### STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff- Respondent

vs.

Appeal No. 2015AP001118 CR

ANTHONY R. OWENS, Defendant- Appellant Case No. 2013CF003971

AILG 2 6 2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND WISCONSIN ORDER DENVING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED

ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

# **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT- APPELLANT**

Esther Cohen Lee Attorney for Defendant- Appellant State Bar No. 1002354

Hall, Burce and Olson, S.C. 759 N. Milwaukee St., #410 Milwaukee, WI 53202

Tel. No. (414) 273-2001

#

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Q. Did the Circuit Court err in receiving into evidence the statements allegedly made by the victim at the scene as dying declarations since the victim had not shown that he believed he had been mortally wounded and that his death was imminent when he made the statements and, therefore, did they fail to satisfy the requirements for that exception to the hearsay rule?
  - A. The Circuit Court answered no.
- 2. Q. Had there been insufficient evidence adduced at the trial to establish the defendant's guilt, beyond a reasonable doubt, of Reckless Homicide in the second degree and Possession of a Firearm by a felon and, therefore, should the Court have granted the defense counsel's motion to dismiss these two Counts against him?
  - A. The Circuit Court answered no.
- 3. Q. Was the defendant's total sentence of 53 years, with 39 years of initial confinement and 14 years of extended supervision unduly harsh and severe and did it constitute an erroneous exercise of the Court's sentencing discretion?

A. The Circuit Court answered no.

### STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

It is not requested that this appeal be published and oral arguments are not necessary because the issues in this matter may be decided on established principles of law in the State of Wisconsin.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE- PROCEDURAL

1. A Criminal Complaint was filed in this case on August 28, 2013 in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County on August 28, 2013. It charged the defendant with Possession of a Firearm by a felon, repeater, on August 19, 2013 at 2211 W. Burnham Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. (Record R3, pp. 1-3; Appendix, pp. A1- A3).

2. The initial appearance was held on October 10, 2013, at which bail was set at \$7,500. (R47, pp. 1-10). The preliminary hearing was held over a period of two days, October 21 and October 29, 2913. (R48, pp. 1-4; R 49, pp. 1-13). At the close of the hearing, the Court found probable cause to believe that a felony had been committed by the defendant and bound him over for trial.

3. The Information was not filed until November 22, 2013, charging both Possession of a Firearm by a felon, repeater, as Count 2, but adding the charge of Reckless Homicide in the first degree, use of a dangerous weapon, repeater, as Count 1. That charge alleged that the defendant had caused the death of JBP on August 19, 2013 at 2211 W. Burnham Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. (R6, pp. 1-2; App., pp. A4- A5).

4. The defendant was arraigned on the Information on November 22, 2013, at which he entered a plea of not guilty to both counts. (R50, pp. 1-6). On January 10, 2014, the defense filed Motions in Limine. (R8, pp. 1-3).

5. On January 24, 2014, the state filed a Motion to admit the statements of the victim under the dying declaration exception of the hearsay rule, as well as a Motion to allow the identification of the defendant as a gang member. (R10, pp. 1-11; App. pp. A6- A16). On February 10, 2014, the defense filed a Response to the State's Motion. (R10, pp. 1-3; App. pp. A17- A19).

6. On March 5, 2014, the state filed an Amended Information, charging the same two Counts as in the Information but adding that the defendant was party to a crime in regard to Count 1, charging Reckless Homicide in the first degree. (R11; pp. 1-2; App. pp. A20- A21).

7. On March 5, 2014, a Motion Hearing was held in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Jeffrey A. Wagner, presiding, regarding the state's motion to admit the statements of the victim under the dying declaration of the hearsay rule and to admit evidence that the defendant had been a member of a gang. (R52, pp. 1- 29; App. pp. A22- A50). Officer Derek Kitts of the Milwaukee Police Department testified as to the circumstances under which he had questioned the victim and the victim's statements to him at the scene. The defense objected to the admission of the statements. However, the Court held that the statements were admissible as evidence at the trial. The Court also held that statements relating to the identification of the defendant by referring to his knick name, which included reference to his gang's name, would be admissible.

8. The case was called for trial on March 10, 2014 but adjourned because the state had not been able to procure a witness named Juiquin Pinchard, who was a cousin of the victim and who was present at the time of the incident. (R53, pp. 1-6). On March 14, 2014, Juiquin Pinchard appeared in Court and a material witness order was signed by the Court in regard to him. He was held on \$10,000 bail. On March 20, Pinchard's deposition was taken in which he testified to the events that had allegedly occurred on May 28, 2011, during which his cousin had been shot and killed. (R56, pp. 1-81). 9. On April 11, 2104, defense counsel, Craig Johnson, moved to withdraw as counsel in the case, at the request of the defendant. The Court granted the motion, noting that the jury trial date was set for June 23, 2014. (R57, pp. 1-5). On April 23, 2014, Kristian Lindo,

Assistant Public Defender, appeared and indicated that he would be representing the defendant. (R58, pp. 1-4). On June 11, 2014, Mr. Lindo made a request for an adjournment of the trial. That request was granted and the trial date was set for August 11, 2014. (R59, pp. 1-5). A final pretrial conference was held on June 23, 2014. (R60, pp. 1-5).

10. On August 11, 2014, the jury trial in this matter commenced. Just before the trial was about to begin, the Court noted that two days before, he had received a letter from Attorney Kovac, requesting that he be substituted as counsel for the case but that he could not be present for the trial on August 11. The Court denied that request, stating that the trial was going to proceed as scheduled. At that point, Attorney Kovac appeared and indicated that the defendant wanted certain things investigated, including some phone call records. The Court indicated that the state would make the records available to the defense. The Court noted that Mr. Kovac had not filed a substitution of counsel notice, that there was no cause to delay the trial, and that it would not allow Mr. Kovac to be substituted as counsel. The trial then proceeded with Mr. Lindo as counsel.

11. The trial continued before the Hon. Jeffrey A. Wagner, presiding, with Grant Huebner, Assistant District Attorney, representing the state, and Kristian Lindo, Assistant Public Defender, representing the defendant. The trial continued until August 13, 2014, at which time the jury rendered its verdicts. It found the defendant guilty of both Counts. The Court ordered a presentence investigation to be conducted.

12. On October 10, 2014, the defendant appeared in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Jeffrey A. Wagner, presiding. (R68, pp. 1-24; App. pp. A51—A74). The state was represented by Mark Williams, Assistant District Attorney, and the defendant was represented by Mr. Lindo. The Court noted that it had received the presentence investigation

report and Mr. Lindo noted certain errors in the report. Mr. Williams, who had not been the trial attorney for the state, indicated that the state was recommending a sentence, for Count 1, of 48 years, with 38 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. He also indicated that the state was recommending a sentence of 8 years for Count 2, with 4 years of initial confinement and 4 years of extended supervision, to run consecutively. He also noted that there were restitution requests made by two people who had been involved in the incident in the amount of \$6,980.05.

13. The Court sentenced the defendant to 45 years for Count 1, with 35 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. The Court also sentenced the defendant to 8 years for Count 2, with 4 years of initial confinement and 4 years of extended supervision, to run consecutively. It also ordered restitution to be paid in the amount of \$6,980.05. A Written Explanation of Determinate Sentence, dated October 10, 2014, was filed. (R33, p. 1; App. p. A75). A Judgment of Conviction was also filed on October 10, 2014. (R37, pp. 1-2; App. pp. A76- A77).

14. A Notice of Intent to pursue Postconviction Relief was filed on October 17, 2014.(R39; p. 1; App. p. A78). An Order Appointing Counsel was filed on November 11, 2014, appointing Esther Cohen Lee as appellate counsel to handle the appeal.

,这次说明了了在了,这个人的人力,不可不可能。我们的我们就能能能能能够了。我们不会们不会就是我们是我们的我们就是我们是我们的我们的我们就能要能是我们要能能能能能能能能能能。""你们们说明

15. On May 15, 2015, a Postconviction Motion to Vacate the Defendant's Convictions or, in the alternative, to Vacate his Sentences and Resentence him was filed in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County. (R41, pp. 1-24; App. pp. A79- A102). A packet containing the relevant Exhibits was also filed. (R42, pp. 1-69). Since the Postconviction Motion was in excess of 20 pages, a Motion for permission to file the Postconviction Motion in excess of 20 pages was also filed. (R43, pp. 1-2).

16. On May 22, 2015, the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County issued a Decision and Order granting the request to file the Motion in excess of 20 pages. However, it also denied the Postconviction Motion. (R44, pp. 1-2; App. pp. A103- A104).

17. A Notice of Appeal, dated June 1, 2015, was duly filed on behalf of the defendant. (R45, p. 1; App. A105). On June 4, 2015, an Order Appointing Counsel was filed, appointing Esther Cohen Lee to represent the defendant in the Court of Appeals. (R---; App. p. A106).

5

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE- FACTUAL

### A. The Events Leading up to the Altercation

At the trial of this matter, the victim's cousin, Juiquin Pinkard, testified to the events that led up to the shooting of the victim, JBP. He testified that at one time, the defendant and Christina Deberry were a couple and that they had a son together. (R65, p. 44). At the time of the incident, the son was four years old. (R65, p. 19). Eventually, Christina and the defendant broke up and eventually, Christina began to go with Juiquin. Christina stated that they had gone together about two years before this incident. (R65, p. 24).

On August 19, 2013, Christina said, she had been at her mother's house, about two blocks from the scene of this incident. She said that at one point, Juiquin had called her and told her that the defendant had had "words" with him over the telephone. (R65, p. 25). After she had received that call from Juiquin, she said, she went over to the house of James Lane at 2211 W. Burnham Street in Milwaukee. Lane is the uncle of both Juiquin and the victim, JBP. (R65, p. 42). Christina said that she had driven to Lane's house in her red car and that after she had parked it, she had walked over to where Juiquin was standing. She said that she was standing with her brother, Jeffrey Rimmer, and a long-time friend, Edgar Maisonet. (R65, p. 27).

Edgar testified that he had grown up in the area where Juiquin, the victim, and the defendant lived, in the area of  $21^{st}$  Street. (R64, p. 91). He said that the defendant was known by the nickname, "Ant". (R64, p. 88). He said that on August 19, 2013, he had been driving his truck in the area of Burnham and  $22^{nd}$  Street when he saw Juiquin, who flagged him down. (R64, p. 94).

### **B.** The Shooting of the Victim, JMP

There was a great deal of conflicting testimony about what happened after Juiquin had flagged down Edgar. Juiquin testified that after he had flagged down Edgar, he talked to Edgar about having a fight with the defendant. (R65, p. 44). Juiquin said that he told Edgar that he had heard some things about "bad blood" between the defendant and him. He said that he told Edgar to call the defendant and tell him that they should have a fist fight and then shake hands and that then it would be all over with. (R65, p. 45).

Juiquin and Edgar were then standing next to Edgar's truck on the corner of 22<sup>nd</sup> and Burnham. While they were standing there, Juiquin said, Edgar called the defendant and told him that he and Juiquin should have a fist fight with each other. deservations of the descent filler of the second second second second second second second second second second

Juiquin said that when Edgar called the defendant and told him about the fist fight, the defendant told him that he did not want to go over to that area and that, instead, Juiquin should go to the area of 21<sup>st</sup> Street and Scott Street. (R65, p. 46). Juiquin, however, said that he told Edgar that he would not go over to that area and that he wanted the defendant to go to the area where he and Edgar were located. At first, Juiquin said, the defendant said no but that then he called Edgar back and said that he would go over there. (R65, p. 47). Shortly after that call, Juiquin said, the defendant called him and said, "come out here, I'm out here." (R65, p. 49).

The problem with Juiquin's testimony is that when Edgar testified at the trial, he denied that any of that happened. Edgar testified that after Juiquin had flagged him down, he had left the area in his truck for about one-half hour and that he had then returned to the area. When he returned, he said, Juiquin and JBP were both there. (R64, p. 95). He denied that Juiquin had told him to call the defendant to tell him that he wanted to have a fist fight with him. (R64, p. 105). He also denied that he had been acting as a mediator between Juiquin and the defendant. (R64,

p. 107). He further denied that the defendant had agreed to fight with Juiquin. He also denied that he had ever said anything like that to the police. (R64, p. 107).

The state then called Detective Patrick Pajot as a witness to impeach Edgar's testimony, even though Edgar had been called as a witness for the state. Pajot testified that on August 22, 2014, Edgar had been arrested and charged with obstructing justice because he kept giving inconsistent versions of what happened. (R65, p. 13). Pajot testified that Edgar had told him, on August 23, 2014, while he had been in custody on the obstructing justice charge, that while he had been driving in the area of Burnham and 23<sup>rd</sup> Street on August 19, 2014, Juiquin had flagged him down.

Pajot said that Edgar told him that Juiquin then asked Edgar to call the defendant and tell him to come to that area to fight. Pajot also said that Edgar had told him that he was acting as the mediator between Juiquin and the defendant. (R65, p. 8). Finally, Pajot testified that Edgar had told him that the defendant had called him on his cell phone about five to ten minutes before the incident had begun and that the defendant had told him he was on his way over to that area. (R65, p. 9). In regard to the incident itself, Juiquin testified that when the defendant called him and told him to come out and that he was there, he had been standing in back of Edgar's truck on 22<sup>nd</sup> Street. Juiquin also said that Christina, her brother, Jeffrey, James Warfield (known as Dinkes), Edgar and JBP were all there with him. (R65, p. 49). He said that it was hot outside and that there were a lot of other people in the area too. (R65, p. 49).

Juiquin said that when he walked around the corner of 22<sup>nd</sup> Street and Burnham, he did not see the defendant at first but then he saw him across the street, in front of the house that was across the street from Lane's house. (R65, p. 50). When he saw the defendant, Juiquin said, he

took his shirt off because he wanted the defendant to know that he did not have a gun and that he just wanted to fight. (R65, p. 54).

Juiquin said that he then walked directly in front of Lane's house and that when he first saw the defendant, the defendant was walking down the street with two other men. (R65, p. 50). He said that he also saw a man walking on the same side of the street as Lane's house and that he was walking slowly with his head down. (R65, p. 50). When Juaquin saw that man, he said, he turned to JBP, who was standing next to him, and said, "Watch dude." (R65, p. 51).

Then, Juiquin said, he saw the defendant across the street but he could only see the upper half of him at first because there were cars parked in front of him. He also said that he saw two other men with him. (R65, p. 52). By that point, Juiquin said, he himself was standing in the street. (R65, p. 53). When Juiquin saw the defendant's upper half, he said, he could see that the defendant had a gun out. (R65, p. 53). As soon as he saw the gun, he said, he yelled, "gun, gun, he got a gun." Then, Juiquin said, the defendant started shooting. (R65, p. 55). He said that he may have seen another one of the men with a gun but that he could not be sure. (R65, p. 57).

Juiquin said that when he saw the defendant with the gun, the defendant did not have the gun pointed directly in front of him but instead at a diagonal in front of him. (R65, p. 58). When the defendant raised his gun, Juiquin said, he was not sure that he had it pointed at him but when he heard the shots being fired, he just took off running. (R65, p. 58). At that point, Juiquin said, he saw JBP shoot a gun towards the defendant and the other two men. (R65, p. 58). Juiquin insisted that he did not know that JBP had had a gun on him at that time. And he insisted that he had no reason to believe that he had had a gun on him before the incident. (R65, p. 55).

#### C. Inconsistencies in the Testimony of the Prosecution Witnesses

Some of the testimony given by Juiquin, however, had not been true. On March 20, 2014, Juiquin had been taken into custody as a material witness and had been required to give a sworn deposition in open court before he could be released. He testified at the deposition that ten minutes before the incident, JBP had asked to see the hat that he had been wearing and that JBP had snatched the hat off of his head. When Juiquin grabbed the hat back, he said, he noticed that there was an outline on the shirt of JBP which he believed to be the outline of a gun. (R56, pp. 50, 53).

In any case, Juiquin testified at the trial that he had seen the defendant and two other men walk towards him across the street. (R65, p. 56). However, at the deposition, he testified that there had been only one other person with the defendant- a man with dreadlocks. (R56, pp. 29, 30). At the trial, Juiquin admitted that prior to the trial, he had watched a video of the incident which had shown that there had actually been two men with the defendant. He said that it could not been seen on the video who the men had been and he did not recognize the two men. (R65, p. 66).

There was yet another large inconsistency in the testimony of the state's witnesses. One of the men who had been standing with Juiquin and JBP at the start of this incident was James Warfield, another cousin of theirs. Warfield had been called by the state to corroborate Juiquin's testimony but in the end, he had given such false testimony that the state felt obliged to call a police officer who had interviewed him after the incident to impeach his testimony.

Warfield testified at the trial that at the time of the incident, he lived in the home of his father, James Long, at 2206 Burnham. He said that he had been in the bathroom, shaving, when he heard an argument. (R64, p. 101). When he went downstairs, he said, he heard someone

saying, "This is Ant doing this to you all." Then, he said, he heard gunshots. (R64, p. 102). He then ran outside, he said, and saw a man with dreadlocks and a "caramel complexion" and a black hoodie and another man standing at the hood of a car. (R64, p. 104). He said he saw the defendant squatting down in front of a red car. (R64, p. 109).

. ): . . . . . . .

Warfield also testified that he saw JBP leave the sidewalk area and walk onto the street. He said that he also saw JBP trading gunfire with these other men. (R63, p. 105). Then, he said, he saw JBP lying on the street. (R63, p. 106). He said that he had seen the defendant start shooting a gun before JBP fell onto the street. (R63, p. 117). He also said that when he saw the defendant, the defendant was on the other side of the street, ducking down by a parked car. (R63, p. 118).

The problem with Warfield's testimony is that it was completely contradicted by the story he had told the police right after the incident. His testimony at the trial was so incredible that immediately after he had testified, the state felt compelled to call as a witness Officer Michael Walisiewicz, who had taken the statement from Warfield, in order to impeach Warfield, even though he had been the state's own witness. Walisiewicz testified that after the incident, Warfield had told him that he had not come down the stairs of his house until after he had heard the gunshots. (R63, p. 121).

When he got outside, Walisiwicz said that Warfield told him he had seen JBP lying in the middle of the street and that he had seen two people running. (R63, p. 122). He also told him that one of the two men who he had seen running had dreadlocks and that the other man was shorter, wearing dark clothing. (R63, p. 124).

Walisiewicz said that Warfield never told him that he had seem JBP with a gun or that he had seen JBP engage in a gunfight. (R63, pp. 123, 125). He also said that Warfield had never

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