## **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-20-2015

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP1118-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY R. OWENS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

NANCY A. NOET Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1023106

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809/(608) 266-9594 (Fax) noetna@doj.state.wi.us

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED JAMAL PINKARD'S<sup>2</sup> STATEMENTS ABOUT WHO SHOT HIM AS DYING DECLARATIONS.

On August 19, 2013, Officer Derek Kitts responded to a reported shooting and arrived to find Jamal Pinkard suffering from a gunshot wound to his chest (52:7). Pinkard was "pale, almost ash-like, and gasping for air" (52:7). Officer Kitts helped hold a towel to Pinkard's chest and tried to talk with Pinkard about the shooting (52:7-8). Pinkard continued to gasp for breath, and he passed in and out of consciousness as Officer Kitts was talking to him (52:8). Officer Kitts had to yell at Pinkard and tap on his shoulder and chest to arouse him (52:8).

Officer Kitts asked Pinkard who shot him, and Pinkard eventually said "Anthony" (52:9). Around that time, Pinkard passed out again, and Officer Kitts shook him and yelled something like "Don't die on me. Look at me. Open

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless indicated otherwise, all citations to Wisconsin Statutes refer to the 2013-14 edition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Generally, Wis. Stat. § 809.86 requires that crime victims be not be identified by their full names in appellate briefs. For a number of reasons, homicide victims are exempt from that rule. See Wis. Stat. § 809.86(3). The State has elected to identify Jamal Pinkard by name in this brief out of respect for him and to acknowledge the tragic circumstances of his death.

your eyes" (52:11). Officer Kitts brought Pinkard around and asked for Anthony's street name, and Pinkard said "Lil Ant" (52:9). When Officer Kitts asked whether Pinkard meant the "Lit Ant" who was affiliated with the La Familia street gang, Pinkard said "no" and then said "Two One," indicating that "Lil Ant" was part of the 2-1 street gang (52:10). Pinkard also managed to tell Officer Kitts where Lil Ant lived (52:10).

Citing State v. Beauchamp, 2010 WI App 42, 324 Wis. 2d 162, 781 N.W.2d 254, the circuit court ruled that Pinkard's statements were admissible at Owens' trial as dying declarations (52:23-26).<sup>3</sup> The circuit court's decision was correct.

A dying declaration is an exception to the general rule against the admission of hearsay statements to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Whether a statement is admissible as a dying declaration falls within the circuit court's discretion. Beauchamp, 324 Wis. 2d 162, ¶ 7 (citations omitted). A reviewing court will uphold an evidentiary ruling as long as the lower court examined the relevant facts, applied an appropriate legal standard, and used a rational process to come to a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. Id. (citation omitted).

### A dying declaration is

A statement made by a declarant while believing that the declarant's death was imminent, concerning the cause or circumstances of what the declarant believed to be the declarant's impending death.

Wis. Stat. § 908.045(3). The person who made the statement to be admitted into evidence does not have to say specifically that he believed his death was imminent: "Rather, belief of

The circuit court confirmed that it also relied on *Beauchamp* in rejecting Owens' additional argument that the statements were inadmissible because they violated his right of confrontation (52:26).

impending death may be inferred from the fact of death and circumstances such as the nature of the wound." *Beauchamp*, 324 Wis. 2d 162, ¶ 8 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Before he died, the victim in Beauchamp repeatedly identified the man who shot him to emergency medical personnel and law enforcement. Beauchamp, 324 Wis. 2d 162, ¶¶ 3-6. On scene, the victim asked one of the emergency medical technicians not to let him die, and the technician assured him they would not let that happen. Id. ¶ 3. In the ambulance, the victim asked why they had passed one hospital to go on to another. Id. ¶ 4. He also complained of pain and that he "couldn't breathe." Id. ¶ 5.

This court upheld the circuit court's determination that the victim's statements about who shot him were declarations based "the admissible as dving on: circumstances surrounding [his] injuries, his frantic concern that he not die as expressed to [the EMT], his being upset when the ambulance passed one hospital on its way to another, and his significant pain and breathing difficulties, coupled with his spontaneous repeated assertions as to who shot him[.]" Beauchamp, 324 Wis. 2d 162, ¶ 9. This court also held that the admission of the victim's statements did not violate the defendant's right to confrontation because exceptions to the confrontation right, including dying declarations, were recognized at the time the right was founded (52:26). Id. ¶¶ 11 & 12 (discussing Giles v. California, 554 U.S. 353, 357 (2008) and Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)).4

The circuit court properly reached the same conclusions in this case. Officer Kitts found Pinkard laying on the ground and suffering from a gunshot wound that ended his life just a short time later (52:7). Pinkard was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This court also observed that "we are unaware of any post-Crawford court rejecting what Giles recognized as the dying declaration exception to the confrontation clause." Beauchamp, 324 Wis. 2d 162, ¶ 12.

"pale, almost ash-like, and gasping for air" (52:7), and Officer Kitts had to shake and yell at Pinkard to get him to regain consciousness and respond to questions about who shot him (52:8-11). At one point, Officer Kitts yelled "Don't die on me. Look at me. Open your eyes" (52:9, 11). Pinkard's condition got worse while Officer Kitts questioned him (52:9, 11), and he didn't even make it to the hospital before he died (63:30). There is nothing in the record to suggest that Jamal Pinkard was somehow unable to understand the blatantly obvious – that he had been shot in the chest, and the injury was life-threatening.

Being shot in the chest would cause any rational adult (and even many children) to fear imminent death. The very nature of the injury by itself can and does permit the inference that Pinkard believed he was going to die. Beauchamp, 324 Wis. 2d 162, ¶ 8. That inference is all the more compelling given that Pinkard was ashen, gasping for breath, and falling in and out of consciousness. He didn't specifically comment on whether he thought he was going to die, but he didn't have to. Id. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it concluded that Pinkard's statements about who shot him were admissible as dying declarations (52:23-26).

# II. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT OWENS OF SHOOTING PINKARD

Owens claims that the evidence against him was insufficient to support his convictions for first-degree reckless homicide and felon in possession of a firearm for essentially one reason: several of the State's witnesses gave trial testimony that was inconsistent with their early statements to law enforcement. If that alone meant that the testimony at issue was insufficient to support a guilty verdict, few if any convictions would stand. Not surprisingly, the governing standard of law provides for a much different analysis.

Criminal defendants who challenge the sufficiency of the evidence underlying their convictions bear a heavy burden. See State v. Schwebke, 2002 WI 55, ¶ 40, 253 Wis. 2d 1, 644 N.W.2d 666; see also State v. Wachsmuth, 166 Wis. 2d 1014, 1022-23, 480 N.W.2d 842 (Ct. App. 1992). The test for sufficiency of the evidence to convict is highly deferential. Appellate courts may not reverse a conviction unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the State and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, the court may not overturn the verdict. State v. Shanks, 2002 WI App 93, ¶24, 253 Wis. 2d 600, 644 N.W.2d 275. The evidence presented in this case easily meets this standard.

Before he died, Jamal Pinkard identified Owens as the man who shot him (63:23-30; 65:41). Jamal was with his cousin, Juiquin Pinkard, who also saw Owens holding and then firing a gun at Jamal (65:53-55, 57-62). Juiquin provided a comprehensive account of how the shooting occurred, and he never wavered in his identification of Owens as the shooter (65:39-86). On the stand, Juiguin acknowledged that his trial testimony was different from his previous statements with respect to things like when he learned that his cousin also had a gun, how many people he had seen with Owens leading up the shooting (two instead of one), and whether he'd seen his cousin fall down after being shot (65:55-62). As Juiquin explained when the prosecutor asked him about one of these inconsistencies: "Like it's – it's been – it's almost been a year. And I remember exactly everything – how it exactly – it's kind of impossible, but, you know. If I said it when you first interviewed me, that's what happened" (65:62). Juiquin's inability to recall relatively inconsequential details is neither uncommon nor fatal to his credibility as a witness. A reasonable jury easily

could – and did – believe Juiquin's version of events and find Owens guilty as charged.

Based on Juiquin's testimony alone, the jury could have convicted Owens. The remaining witnesses he complains about were almost unnecessary. That said, the inconsistencies in their testimony did not prohibit the jury from finding Owens guilty. James Warfield, another cousin of Jamal and Juiquin, testified at trial that he saw some of the shooting incident after first hearing gunfire while inside his father's house (63:102-11). Warfield also testified that he heard someone say "This is Ant doing this to you all" (63:107). The detective who interviewed Warfield just after the shooting took the stand to explain that Warfield told the detective that he heard both gunfire and someone yell "This is Ant doing this to you[,]" but that he did not actually witness any part of the gun fight (63:121-25).<sup>5</sup> Aside from

(63:129). Owens' claim clearly takes this testimony out of context and misrepresents the trial record. The detective was being asked whether Warfield reported that he *saw* the person who made the statement about Ant, not whether he *heard* the statement (*see also* 63:125). The detective clearly testified *twice* that Warfield said he had heard someone say "This is Ant doing [this] to you" (63:121, 124).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In Owens' brief, he claims that "the officer said that Warfield never told him that he had heard anyone make a remark about this being "Ant" doing this" (Owens Br. 24-25). In support of that claim, Owens cites to the following exchange:

Q: ... I'm just going to really focus on your interview with Mr. Warfield. So Mr. Warfield never told you I saw this male individual say, "This is Ant doing this to you?"

A: Saw, no. He did not.

Q: He never gave you a description of the individual that he said "This is Ant doing this to you"?

A: No.

Q: Because he didn't tell you he saw anybody?

A: Correct.

these inconsistencies in Warfield's testimony, he did corroborate, however, the remaining evidence at trial. Believing some or even none of Warfield's testimony, the jury still had ample evidence to find Owens guilty.

The same is true for the other two witnesses that Owens discusses in his brief, Edgar Maisonet and Christina Deberry. Maisonet initially told the police that leading up the shooting, he had been trying to mediate a dispute between Owens and Juiquin Pinkard (65:8). Maisonet reported that he had called Owens at Pinkard's request to arrange for Owens to come to the area to fight with Pinkard and resolve the dispute (over Deberry) (65:7-8). At trial, Maisonet denied serving as a go-between for Pinkard and Owens, and said he did not remember telling the police otherwise (64:86-110).6 Although the State likely called Maisonet to provide some context for the shooting, it really wasn't necessary. Deberry contributed even less to the trial, as the single paragraph in Owens' brief demonstrates (see Owens Br. 25-26). That, of course, has no bearing on the sufficiency of the remaining trial evidence.

The evidence against Owens, viewed most favorably to the State and his convictions, clearly is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493 at 501.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Oddly, Owens argues that Maisonet's trial testimony should be discounted as "an absolute lie" even though it was arguably more favorable to him than Maisonet's original statement to the police (Owens Br. 25).

# III. OWENS' SENTENCES ARE NOT UNDULY HARSH.

Sentencing falls within the discretion of the circuit court, and appellate review is limited to a determination of the circuit court erroneously exercised discretion. McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277-78, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971); see also State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 68, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. In its exercise of discretion, the circuit court is to identify the objectives of its sentence, which include but are not limited to protecting the community, punishing the defendant, rehabilitating the defendant, and deterring others. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 40. In determining the sentencing objectives, the circuit court should consider a variety of factors, including the gravity of the offense, the character of the defendant, and the need to protect the public. See State v. Harris, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 28, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409; see also Wis. Stat. § 973.017.

The weight assigned to the various factors is left to the circuit court's discretion, Harris, 326 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 28, and the amount of explanation required for a sentence varies from case to case. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 39. As long as the circuit court "has considered the proper factors, explained its rationale for the overall sentence it imposes, and the sentence is not unreasonable, the court does not erroneously exercise its discretion simply by failing to separately explain its rationale for each and every facet of the sentence imposed."  $State\ v.\ Matke$ , 2005 WI App 4, ¶ 19, 278 Wis. 2d 403, 692 N.W.2d 265.

Owens argues that his sentences are unduly harsh because the circuit court improperly gave short shrift to his rehabilitative needs by "fail[ing] to state why the extremely lengthy sentence was required to rehabilitate [him]" (Owens Br. 30). Owens misses the point. The circuit court was not required to place any significant emphasis or make extensive remarks about his rehabilitation, especially given his

history, the severity of his current offenses, and the circuit court's stated sentencing objectives.

When the court sentenced Owens, the court noted that the homicide was "evil" (68:19), and that Owens' prior correctional experience had not served to change his criminal behavior (68:19-20). The court considered Owens' criminal record as well as his vocational and employment, but concluded that "The crime is the most serious. You took the life of another person" (68:21). The court went to explain that because Owens had killed someone, he "had to be punished" (68:22). The court also wanted Owens' sentence to serve both "as a specific deterrence" to him and as a "general deterrence to others" (68:22). Then, before pronouncing sentence, the circuit court explained:

So there needs to be a need to protect the public and punish you for your criminal behavior because of the legacy of sadness that you left behind and on the onslaught of this horrific offense.

So confinement is necessary and a long term confinement based upon your criminal history and strictly as a punitive nature of this sentencing.

(68:22-23). Because of Owens' "callous attitude towards human life," the court sentenced him to a total of thirty-nine years initial confinement and fourteen years of extended supervision (68:23).

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